Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024

Page 1 of 22

FILED 08-05-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

State of Wisconsin
Court of Appeals
District 2
Appeal Case No. 2024AP000737 - CR
Circuit Court Case No. 19 CF 466

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Jeffrey A. Roth, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL F. REILLY AND FREDERICK J. STRAMPE, PRESIDING.

### BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Gregory Bates Attorney for Respondent-Appellant State Bar No. 1018846 PO Box 70 Kenosha, WI 53141 (262) 657-3082 Gbates1407@gmail.com

## **

STATEMENT OF CASE
ARGUMENT11
I. The trial court erred when it denied Roth's motion to
dismiss11
A. Standard of Review11
B. Under Wisconsin Law, Occonomowoc Police had a duty to preserve the body camera video and the squad camera video
C. The failure to preserve evidence violated Roth's due process rights and the remedy should be to dismiss this action
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION22

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 3 of 22

# **AUTHORITY CITED**

Cases
Arizona v. Youngblood,
488 U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988) 12, 14
California v. Trombetta,
467 U.S. 479 (1984)
Langlade County. v. D.J.W.,
2020 WI 41, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 2771
Royster-Clark, Inc. v. Olsen's Mill, Inc.,
2006 WI 46, 290 Wis. 2d 264, 714 N.W.2d 5301
State v. Greenwold,
189 Wis.2d 59, 525 N.W.2d 294 (Ct.App.1994) (Greenwold II
State v. Greenwold,
181 Wis.2d 881, 512 N.W.2d 237 (Ct. App.1994) (Greenwold I)
State v. Hahn,
132 Wis. 2d 351, 392 N.W.2d 464 (Ct. App. 1986) . 14, 15, 20
State v. Huggett,
2010 WI App 69, 324 Wis. 2d 786, 783 N.W.2d 675
State v. Luedtke,
2015 WI 42, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 59212
Statutes
Wis Stats sec 165.87

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 4 of 22

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

I. Did the circuit court err when it denied the suppression motion in this case?

<u>Treatment by trial court</u>: The trial court answered "no" when it entered its findings and order in this matter

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Appellant does not believe that oral argument is necessary in this case and that the briefs will sufficiently address the issues raised.

The Appellant does not believe that publication is warranted in this misdemeanor one-judge appeal.

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 5 of 22

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

On July 24, 2017, in Waukesha County Circuit Court case 19 CF 466, Jeffrey A. Roth was charged in a Criminal Complaint. (Record, 1:1) The charges were:

Count 1: Count 1: Threat to a Law Enforcement Officer

Count 2: Possession of Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC)

Count 3: Possession of Drug Paraphernalia

Count 4: Resisting an Officer

Count 5: Misdemeanor Bail Jumping

A summary of the criminal complaint follows:

Sergeant Timm's reports state that on April 1, 2019, at approximately 10:44 pm, he and Officer Resch were dispatched to Riverdale Drive and Grandview Avenue for a report of a suspicious male who was stumbling around the area. The caller, Sarah Sullivan, stated that the male subject was currently sitting in a vehicle in front of 1571 Riverdale Drive. Officers made contact with the area and observed a tan Mercury Sable with Wisconsin license plate 420YLV parked in front of 1571 Riverdale Drive. There was a male subject slumped down in the driver's seat sleeping. The vehicle was not running and the keys to the vehicle were on the passenger side. Outside of the

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 6 of 22

vehicle Sergeant Timm could smell the odor of marijuana. Sergeant Timm then opened the driver's side door to check on the driver's wellbeing and when the door was opened, an even stronger odor of marijuana was present in the vehicle. Contact was made with the male subject who was later identified via Wisconsin driver's license as Jeffrey A. Roth, hereinafter referred to as the defendant. Roth opened his eyes and was staring at the officer and stated that he was not getting out of his vehicle and that Sergeant Timm needed to close the door as he had no right to open it. The defendant was asked several times to exit the vehicle and the defendant did not comply. He was then told several times he needed to exit the vehicle and failure to cooperate would result in him being tased. By this time, Officer Resch had drawn out his taser and told the defendant to comply with the request or he would be tased. The defendant did not comply with officer's request and he was drive stun tased at which point the defendant was told to stop resisting and ultimately was taken into custody. After the defendant was taken into custody, his vehicle was searched and officers were able to locate numerous items related to possession of THC, specifically, a significant amount of marijuana

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 7 of 22

shake all over the vehicle that was ultimately gathered and field tested and tested positive for the presence of THC. Also in the vehicle inside of a backpack was a blue metal cylindrical device used for grinding marijuana that had bits of marijuana inside of it. There was also a small thin glass pipe used to inhale marijuana.

After the defendant was arrested for the possession of THC and for resisting officers, he was taken directly to the Waukesha County jail. Upon arrival at the jail, the defendant started complaining to Officer Resch about being tased and then he stated, "I'll kill you if you ever tase me again. I will put a bullet in your head if you try to tase me again." Officer Resch stated he did not give the defendant permission to make such threatening statements and Officer Resch stated that he did consider the threat to be serious and sincere.

After a preliminary hearing waiver, an Information was filed on May 29, 2019, and Roth was bound over for trial. (134:1, 10:1)

# **Motion to Suppress Evidence**

On June 15, 2021, Roth filed a motion for dismissal due to the destruction of evidence (29:1-3). That motion was heard on March 21,

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 8 of 22

2022, May 27, 2022, and November 14, 2022. (44:1-50, 43:1-65, 61:1-80)

### The motion stated:

Basic discovery was received and included police reports from Officer Resch and Sergeant Timm of the Oconomowoc Police Department.

Officer Resch states in his report that his squad camera was operating during the incident and that his "body camera would not activate at that time". Sargeant Timm also stated that his squad camera was activated, but that his "body camera audio was not functioning properly and didn't record any of the incident". Also present at the incident was Officer Karleski, but he had not prepare a report and no mention is made in the other reports regarding a squad camera or body camera operated by Officer Karleski.

To date, no digital discovery has been received on this case. An email was sent to the ADA in this matter requesting all digital discovery. The response was that there was no body camera footage available and there was one squad camera that was on, but did not capture the incident and did not have audio.

In addition, defense counsel has not received any discovery related to the alleged marijuana or paraphernalia, including no pictures or test results. The request for evidence was proper as it Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 9 of 22

might tend to negate the guilt of the defendant or affect the weight or credibility of the evidence against the defendant. (29:1-3)

At the motion hearings, it was testified that the officers did not comply with the Oconomowoc Police Department's pre-inspection check policy for their body and squad cameras. (61:11, 61:29) The officers' body cameras were presumably functioning during the incident, but there were inconsistencies in the testimonies regarding the activation and functioning of these cameras. The defense argued that the absence of video evidence from the incident violated Mr. Roth's rights and suggested bad faith on the part of the police department. (61:55)

The alleged threat made by Mr. Roth to Officer Resch was also a point of contention that would have been captured by the lost video (61:24). The defense argued that the context and tone of the alleged threat were unclear and that the entire interaction would have been captured on Officer Resch's squad cam video, which has since disappeared (61:27).

The trial court denied the defendant's motion. (61:74-78) The court ruled that the Oconomowoc Police Department did not fail to

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 10 of 22

preserve exculpatory evidence and did not act in bad faith by failing to preserve potentially exculpatory evidence. (61:77-78) The court found no evidence of ill motive on the part of the police department. *Id.* The court attributed the failure to upload videos on April 1, 2019, to faulty equipment, not to any animus of the officers or the department. *Id.* 

## **Trial and Sentencing**

The case proceeded to trial on April 18, 2023, April 19, 2023, and April 20, 2023. (131:1, 135:1, 135:1) After testimony and deliberations, the jury returned verdicts of not guilty of on count 1 and count 5. (66:1-2) The court dismissed count 2, Possession of THC, on a motion. (135:10-11) The jury found Roth guilty on counts 3, Resisting an Officer and 4, Misdemeanor Bail Jumping. (67:1-2) The case was set for sentencing.

Roth was sentenced to a \$100 fine on count 3 and 40 days in jail on count 4. (130:20, 94:1-3). Roth now appeals.

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 11 of 22

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The trial court erred when it denied Roth's motion to dismiss.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether action by the State constitutes a violation of due process is a question of law that is decided on appeal independent of the determination of the circuit court. *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶37, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592. A circuit court's findings of historical fact will be upheld unless those findings are clearly erroneous. *Id.* A circuit court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous when those findings "are unsupported by the record." *Royster-Clark, Inc. v. Olsen's Mill, Inc.*, 2006 WI 46, ¶11, 290 Wis. 2d 264, 714 N.W.2d 530. Whether facts satisfy a particular legal standard is a question of law. *Langlade County. v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶47, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277.

To prevail, Roth must show that the State (1) failed to preserve evidence that was apparently exculpatory, or (2) acted in bad faith by failing to preserve evidence that was potentially exculpatory. *State v. Greenwold*, 189 Wis.2d 59, 67, 525 N.W.2d 294 (Ct.App.1994).

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 12 of 22

Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988).

B. Under Wisconsin Law, Occonomowoc Police had a duty to preserve the body camera video and the squad camera video.

Wisconsin law provides that:

165.87 Body cameras and law enforcement.

•••

**(2)** 

- (a) Except as provided in pars.(b),(c), and(d), all data from a body camera used on a law enforcement officer shall be retained for a minimum of 120 days after the date of recording.
- (b) Data from a body camera used on a law enforcement officer that record any of the following shall be retained until final disposition of any investigation, case, or complaint to which the data pertain, except as provided in pars.(c) and (d):
- **1.** An encounter that resulted in the death of any individual or actual or alleged physical injury to an individual.
- 2. An encounter that resulted in a custodial arrest.
- **3.** A search during an authorized temporary questioning as provided in s. 968.25.
- **4.** An encounter that included the use of force by a law enforcement officer, unless the only use of force was the use of a firearm to dispatch an injured wild animal.

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 13 of 22

State v. Huggett, 2010 WI App 69, 324 Wis. 2d 786, 783 N.W.2d 675, says that the government is required to preserve evidence in certain circumstances. It also creates an expectation of preservation and it becomes responsible for assuring that evidence was, in fact, preserved. Id.

The duty to preserve evidence extends to evidence expected to be material to the defense. *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 488 (1984). To be material, the "evidence must both possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." Id. at 489. See also *State v. Oinas*, 125 Wis. 2d 487, 490, 373 N.W.2d 463, 465 (Ct. App. 1985).

The defendant's due process rights are violated when the evidence is "apparently exculpatory" or "potentially exculpatory" but the police act "in bad faith" in failing to preserve it. *State v. Huggett*, 2010 WI App 69, ¶ 12, 324 Wis. 2d 786, 783 N.W.2d 675.

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 14 of 22

C. The failure to preserve evidence violated Roth's due process rights and the remedy should be to dismiss this action.

here, we held: "A defendant's due process rights are violated if the police: (1) failed to preserve the evidence that is apparently exculpatory; or (2) acted in bad faith by failing to preserve evidence which is potentially exculpatory." See Greenwold II, 189 Wis.2d at 67-68, 525 N.W.2d 294 (citing Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, L.Ed.2d 57-58, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 281 (1988)); State Greenwold, 181 Wis.2d 881, 885-86, 512 N.W.2d 237 (Ct. App.1994) ( *Greenwold I*).

Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 57-58, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988) suggests that if the materiality of the evidence rises above being potentially useful to clearly exculpatory, a bad faith analysis need not be evoked; the defendant's due process rights are violated because of the apparently exculpatory nature of the evidence not preserved. *State v. Greenwold*, 189 Wis. 2d 59, 67-68, 525 N.W.2d 294 (Ct. App. 1994) (*Greenwold II*).

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 15 of 22

It is irrelevant, however, whether the State affirmatively destroyed evidence or passively allowed it to be destroyed. See *State v. Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d 351, 357-60, 392 N.W.2d 464 (Ct. App. 1986); *Greenwold II*, 189 Wis.2d at 67, 525 N.W.2d 294 (referring to "evidence not preserved, lost, or destroyed by the State"). In either event, the State failed in its duty to preserve evidence. Here, the State did not attempt to preserve the squad videos or body camera video, and they were unavailable to Roth.

In order to rise to the level of a due process violation, the lost evidence "must ... be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Greenwold II*, 189 Wis.2d at 67,525 N.W.2d 294 (quoting *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 489, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984) ). "In Trombetta, the Court focused its analysis on the defendant's right to fundamental fairness by giving the defendant a chance to present a complete defense." *Id.* (citing *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 485, 104 S.Ct. 2528).

On facts similar to those here, the Court of Appeals affirmed a circuit court's order dismissing, with prejudice, a single charge of

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 16 of 22

second-degree intentional homicide because the State failed to preserve apparently exculpatory evidence consisting of threatening voicemail messages left on two cell phones. *State v. Huggett*, 2010 WI App 69, 324 Wis. 2d 786, 783 N.W.2d 675.

In *Huggett*, the defendant raised perfect self-defense and defense of others. In *Huggett*, Peach broke into the house of Huggett and Kerbel, and Peach was shot to death by Huggett. *Huggett*, 324 Wis. 2d 786, ¶3. Huggett was later charged with second-degree intentional homicide, but immediately after the incident, Huggett claimed that he acted in self-defense and defense of others. Id., ¶1. Also, shortly after Huggett shot Peach, Huggett and Kerbel brought to law enforcement's attention threatening voicemail messages sent to Huggett and Kerbel from Peach. Id., ¶¶4-7. Law enforcement "immediately realized" the evidentiary value and seized Kerbel's and Huggett's phones. *Id.*, ¶¶4-5. While in the possession of law enforcement, the State did not preserve the voicemail messages and those were automatically deleted with no chance of recovery. *Id* ¶10. In those circumstances, in which the State was immediately aware of the clearly exculpatory evidence, took the phones that belonged to

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 17 of 22

Huggett and Peach, and then allowed the voicemails to be deleted, there may be a place for an "expectation" consideration because the *Huggett* court was discussing "exclusive control" of the evidence. *Id.*, ¶¶16-18.

Here, the State did not attempt to record the messages, much less listen to and contemporaneously document their content, until over two and one-half months after the incident. Even then, no attempt was made to access Huggett's voicemail messages. *Id*.

The *Huggett* court rejected the argument that, even though the relevant (and material) voicemail messages had not been preserved, the defendant still had access to comparable evidence through witness testimony and the preserved text messages. *Huggett*, 2010 WI App 69, ¶ 22.

Here, the only witnesses to the events were Roth and the antagonist police officers, who had the motivation to protect their image under the circumstances of the arrest. Roth had requested the evidence, and the evidence was Roth's only hope for exoneration. "Simply put, there is no replacement for a live recording of the [action involving the arrest of Roth]." *Id.* at ¶ 23. The circuit court in *Huggett* 

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 18 of 22

recognized dismissal was "the most Draconian sanction possible" and indicated it was hesitant to grant it. Nevertheless, it was an appropriate "discretionary call for the Court." *Id.* at ¶ 27.

Also, *State v. Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d 351, 392 N.W.2d 464 (Ct. App. 1986) compares favorably. *Hahn* involved an appeal from an order dismissing with prejudice a complaint for homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle. The issue was whether the failure to preserve exculpatory evidence justified dismissal. At issue was whether the vehicle operated by the defendant was defective and the accident would have occurred regardless of the defendant's intoxication. *See* § 940.09(2).

The vehicle was salvaged before the defendant's expert could examine it, and the relevant examination could not be performed. The circuit court determined that once the truck was destroyed, the defendant "lost his one and sole statutory defense." This was Hahn's one opportunity to defend himself in that action." *Id* at 359-360. The circuit court explained that the "truck had an apparent exculpatory value which the state recognized, evidenced by its impoundment of the vehicle. The truck's destruction made it impossible for the

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 19 of 22

defendant to obtain other comparable evidence because none existed." *Id.* The court concluded that the state violated its duty to preserve the evidence. The Court of Appeals held that the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by dismissing the complaint. Id. at 363.

It cannot be said that Roth had access to comparable evidence from police reports and testimony. In this case, three officers were dispatched to a call for a person sleeping in a car. (61:3) Roth was found sleeping in a car on arrival. (61:3) Captain Timm testified that this was too much of an emergency to conduct a pre-inspection check of the equipment or to mess around with that kind of stuff. (61:11) The incident resulted in the use of force by the police against Roth, and it required the perseveration of, at a minimum, the body camera videos of the officers involved under Wisconsin law. (61:29) The Oconomowoc Police Department has a policy that deletes video evidence contrary to Wisconsin law. (61:29-30) The videos were successfully uploaded at some point but were later deleted or became unavailable to Roth. (61:45)

The incident was clearly a "use of force" incident and required extra action to preserve available evidence. This case involved the use

Case 2024AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-05-2024 Page 20 of 22

of a Taser against Roth and an additional vehicle transport of Roth to the Waukesha County Jail. (43:62) All this potentially exculpatory evidence was lost and unavailable to Roth and his defense against the charges in this case.

Quoting *Hahn*, the State acknowledges that "[w]hen the government has destroyed [or lost] criminal evidence, the imposition of a sanction is within the court's discretion." *Hahn*, 132 Wis.2d at 361, 392 N.W.2d 464. There, we cited federal cases "which held that the determination of the sanction depends on a balancing of the quality of the government's conduct and the degree of prejudice to the accused." *Id.* at 362, 392 N.W.2d 464. Hahn, however, preceded Greenwold I and II, which established the government's good or bad faith as irrelevant to whether a due process violation occurred in cases involving apparently exculpatory evidence. Dismissal was the proper remedy in this case.

State v. Hahn, 132 Wis. 2d 351, 362, 392 N.W.2d 464, 468 (Ct. App. 1986). Having found that the recordings were material to Roth's case, the court here was left to consider the sanction in light of the flagrant violations of the law by failing to preserve evidence. "[W]hen

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