Filed 09-19-2024

Page 1 of 21

FILED 09-19-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Appeal Case No. 2024AP737

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Jeffrey A. Roth,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL F. REILLY FREDERICK J. STRAMPE, PRESIDING

Case No. 2019CF466

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Susan Lee Opper District Attorney Waukesha County

Chelsea Thompson Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1096710 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly denied Roth's motion to dismiss because the purge of the squad cameras from the City of Oconomowoc's server did not violate his due process rights.

I. Destruction of evidence violates a defendant's due process rights only when the evidence was apparently exculpatory, or when the evidence was potentially exculpatory and the destruction occurred in bad faith.

In general, prosecutors must disclose evidence to the defense if the evidence is material to either guilt or punishment. *See Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). This rule does not create an absolute requirement that the State preserve all evidence in a case, however. A defendant's due process rights are violated if the police: (1) failed to preserve evidence that is apparently exculpatory; or (2) failed to preserve evidence which is potentially exculpatory, and they did so in bad faith. *State v. Greenwold (Greenwold II)*, 189 Wis. 2d 59, 67, 525 N.W.2d 294 (Ct. App. 1994).

To prove that the State destroyed apparently exculpatory evidence in violation of due process, a defendant "must demonstrate that: (1) the evidence destroyed 'possess[ed] an exculpatory value that was apparent to those who had custody of the evidence . . . before the evidence was destroyed,' and (2) the evidence is 'of such a nature that the defendant [is] unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means."" *State v. Munford*, 2010 WI App 168, ¶ 21, 330 Wis. 2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264 (citation omitted). Lost or destroyed evidence is not considered apparently exculpatory if it would have provided "simply an avenue of investigation that might have led in any number of directions." *Hubanks v. Frank*, 392 F.3d 926, 931 (7th Cir. 2004) (quoting *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 57 n.*).

To prove that the State failed to preserve potentially exculpatory evidence in bad faith, a defendant must demonstrate that (1) the officers were aware of the potentially exculpatory value of the evidence that they failed to preserve, and (2) they "acted with official animus or made a conscious effort to suppress exculpatory evidence." *Greenwold II*, 189 Wis. 2d at 66, 69. A negligent failure to preserve evidence does not establish bad faith. *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988); *Greenwold II*, 189 Wis. 2d at 68–69. When alleging a violation concerning evidence that is only potentially exculpatory, the defendant has the burden to prove the police acted in bad faith. *Greenwold II*, 189 Wis. 2d at 70.

II. The squad camera videos were not apparently exculpatory.

When looking at whether evidence is "apparently exculpatory" a court must determine "if the materiality of the evidence rises above being potentially useful to clearly exculpatory." *State v. Huggett*, 2010 WI App 69, ¶ 11, 324 Wis. 2d 786, 783 N.W.2d 675 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Greenwold II*, 189 Wis. 2d at 68, 525 N.W.2d 294) (internal quotations omitted). The "mere possibility" that the evidence might be exculpatory does not mean the evidence was apparently exculpatory. *Munford* at ¶23. In *Huggett*, the Court of Appeals affirmed an order of the trial court to dismiss a single count of second degree intentional homicide after the State was found to have failed to preserve a threatening voicemail message from the victim to the defendant. *Id.* ¶ 1. During the homicide investigation wherein Huggett claimed

self-defense, Huggett alerted officers to the threatening voicemails and texts on their cell phones from the victim prior to the shooting, and Huggett explained he only shot the victim in self-defense. *Id.* ¶¶ 4-6. One officer actually listened to the threatening voicemail on Kerbel's phone almost immediately upon arrival at the residence, and took the cell phone with an understanding that it had evidentiary value. *Id.* ¶ 4. While certain text messages on each of Huggett's and Kerbel's phones were preserved by the police, there were no threatening voicemail messages preserved. *Id.* ¶ 9. The circuit court dismissed the case with prejudice due to the State's failure to preserve the voicemail messages. *Id.* ¶ 10.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal, and in its reasoning stated that it was "reasonable for Huggett to expect that the State would preserve the voicemail recordings." *Id.* ¶ 17. Further, the Court found that "the sheriff's department was immediately aware of the apparently exculpatory value of the evidence and confiscated the cell phones as part of its investigation." *Id.* The Court further emphasized that there was no comparable evidence available either through witness testimony or the preserved text messages. *Id.* ¶ 22. The Court concluded that Huggett met the standard to demonstrate that his due process rights were violated by not preserving the voicemails as the evidence was apparently exculpatory, and dismissal of the homicide charge was an appropriate remedy. *Id.* ¶ 25.

State v. Hahn is instructive as an example of a due process violation created by the State destroying apparently exculpatory evidence. The State had a duty to preserve the Defendant's truck, as its seizure of the truck demonstrated the State's knowledge of its exculpatory value. *State v. Hahn*, 132 Wis. 2d 351, 360, 392 N.W.2d 464, 467 (Ct. App. 1986). The truck at issue was the Defendant's sole means of proving his affirmative defense that the car accident would have occurred absent his intoxication. *Id.* He did not have an ability to present comparable evidence. *Id.* Additionally, since the State was aware of the evidence's exculpatory value (meaning the evidence was apparently exculpatory), a bad faith analysis was not necessary and the mere fact the evidence was destroyed was sufficient to establish a due process violation. *Luedtke* at ¶57.

In contrast to *Huggett* and *Hahn*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals held in *State v. Kircher*, 189 Wis. 2d 392, 404, 525 N.W.2d 788 (Ct. App. 1994), that the destruction of a 911 tape did not violate the defendant's due process rights. In *Kircher*, the defendant struck a pedestrian on a highway with his vehicle, and then proceeded to call 911 to report the accident. *Id.* at 396. The 911 call was recorded, but not preserved. *Id.* The defendant was ultimately found to have a blood alcohol concentration (BAC) above 0.10 percent at the time of the accident, and was subsequently charged. *Id.* at 396-97. The defendant wanted to use the 911 call to "illustrate[] that he was alert and in full possession of his faculties, notwithstanding his intoxication, thereby establishing a defense under § 940.09(2), STATS." *Id.* at 402.

The Court held that even "[a]ssuming, without deciding, that the 911 tape recording possessed an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed, Kircher's argument fails because he was able to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Id.* Specifically, the Court found that the defendant could present testimony from police officers and the 911 telecommunicator who answered the defendant's call, as they were able to testify that the defendant was alert and did not show indications of intoxication. *Id.* at 402-04. Because there was comparable evidence to the 911 call, the Court did not believe a due process violation occurred even though the 911 call was destroyed and potentially had exculpatory value. *Id.* at 404.

The squad camera footage in Roth's case is not apparently exculpatory, and can be distinguished from *Huggett* and *Hahn*. There is no support in the record for the officers' knowledge of the evidence's exculpatory value. The facts in Roth's case aligns with the court's analysis in *Kircher*. Even if, for the sake of argument, the squad camera held apparently exculpatory value, there was not a due process violation because squad camera was not the sole means of obtaining comparable evidence. The police officers testified and were subject to cross-examination, and defense was provided the police reports in discovery. Roth fails to explain how the squad camera videos were apparently exculpatory at the time of the destruction and fails to explain what they would have showed that could not have been explained by the officers during testimony. Thus, the court must engage in a bad faith analysis. In doing so, the record demonstrates only negligence as opposed to official animus or conscious actions to destroy evidence.

III. The police did not act in bad faith when the squad camera videos were purged because there was no official animus toward Roth, nor was there any conscious effort to suppress the evidence.

In Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58, the U.S. Supreme Court held "that unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law" under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. If evidence is materially exculpatory evidence, and the State fails to disclose the evidence, it is irrelevant whether the State did so in bad faith or good faith. *Id.* But, the Court stated that "the Due Process Clause requires a different result when we deal with the failure of the State to preserve evidentiary material of which no more can be said then that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which *might have* exonerated the defendant." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Court reasoned that a defendant is required to show bad faith by the police, because it "limits the extent of the police's obligation to preserve evidence to a reasonable bounds and confines it to that class of cases where the interests of justice most clearly require it." *Id.* at 58. The Court specifically did not impose on police "an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of

Page 16 of 21

conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution." *Id.* Negligence by officers does not rise to the level of bad faith required under *Youngblood. See Id.* at 58 (finding that the police's failure to refrigerate clothing and test the semen samples in a sexual assault case was negligent, but did not violate Due Process). See also *State v. Revels*, 2022 WI App 8, 971 N.W.2d 203. (The State presents the unpublished *Revels* decision for persuasive value only. An officer's failure to follow a written office policy is not sufficient to show bad faith for purposes of a due process violation.² *Id.* at ¶32-33.

In Greenwold II, and its predecessor court of appeals case Greenwold I, the State's failures to preserve blood samples and record the scene of a fatal accident caused by an intoxicated driver were at issue. Greenwold II at 64, 70. The court of appeals found that while the officers may have been negligent, there was no due process violation and the court reversed the circuit court's dismissal of the charges. Id. at 69. The court of appeals made this decision for two reasons. First, officers were not aware of the potentially exculpatory value of the evidence they failed to preserve. Id. Therefore, this evidence was merely potentially exculpatory as opposed to apparently exculpatory. Id. at 70. Second, the Defendant was only able to show negligence on the part of the officers, as opposed to bad faith, so he was not able to meet his burden under the Youngblood standard to demonstrate a due process violation. Id. at 70-71. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in finding a due process violation and dismissing the case.

Greenwold is similar to the case at hand because the record has only established possible negligence on the part of the Oconomowoc Police Department. Officer testimony in multiple evidentiary hearings, as well as extensive cross-examination at trial, showed that officers made a good-faith

² Pursuant to Wis. Stat. Rule 809.23(3)(b) authored, unpublished opinions issued after July 1, 2009, may be cited for persuasive value. In the State's view, *Revels* persuasively interprets exculpatory evidence in the context of squad and body camera recordings deleted from the department's system pursuant to a 120-

day retention policy.

Page 17 of 21

effort to ensure their camera systems were recording. The body cameras had been working inconsistently as long as the Department had been using them. (R. at 44:23.) Officer Resch testified at trial he believed his squad camera was working, but remembered attempting to manually turn on the body camera he was wearing because it did not automatically turn on with his squad camera. (R. at 135:77.) Sgt. Timm testified at trial he believed he attempted to turn on his body camera manually. (R. at 131:216.) Law enforcement intended and believed that the cameras would record. The body and squad cameras were designed to automatically upload to the police department's server when they were plugged in and entered the range of the police department's wireless internet network. (R. at 43-37.) The system eliminated the need for officers to manually upload any body or squad camera recordings. The body cameras were not functioning properly, and the squad cameras were removed from the system due to the 120-retention policy.

Luedtke is also instructive. Luedtke involved the destruction of blood samples by the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene pursuant to Laboratory policy. Id. ¶ 3, 5. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that "under longstanding Wisconsin precedent, it is clear that the routine destruction of a driver's blood or breath sample, without more, does not deprive a defendant of due process." Id. ¶ 46. The court further concluded that the destruction of the blood samples pursuant to Laboratory policy did not demonstrate bad faith because the defendant failed to show "that the State (1) was 'aware of the potentially exculpatory value or usefulness of the evidence [the State] failed to preserve'; and (2) 'acted with official animus or made a conscious effort to suppress exculpatory evidence." Id. ¶ 55 (quoting Greenwold II, 189 Wis. 2d at 69). Also considered by the State Supreme Court was the fact that Luedtke received a fair trial:

> Luedtke cross-examined witnesses and the court gave him an opportunity to call his own expert witness, although he chose not to do so. Luedtke also had the opportunity to tell the jury that he

was unable to test his blood sample because the Laboratory destroyed it. Luedtke received discovery and additional time from the circuit court to prepare his defense and to seek documents from the Laboratory through an open records request. Although Luedtke was unable to retest the blood sample, he was able to analyze the raw data and methodology that the Laboratory used to test the sample.

Id. at ¶60.

There is insufficient evidence in the record to find the officers acted in bad faith by not preserving the videos. In the case at hand, there is testimony that the recordings would have just as likely been inculpatory. There is no testimony that the officers were aware of the recordings' exculpatory value at the time they were not preserved. The officers had relied on their common practice and believed the recordings were being preserved. The officers did not have the access needed to delete or modify the squad camera recordings. Nearly all of the factors the Luedtke court considered in whether Luedtke received a fair trial are present in Roth's case. Roth was able to elicit a plethora of testimony at trial regarding the lack of body and squad camera recordings and the Oconomowoc Police Department's methodologies for creating and preserving recordings. Roth received ample time to receive discovery and file numerous open records requests. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, Roth was able to cross-examine the officers who witnessed and arrested him for these offenses. The over-arching issue is whether Roth received a fair trial without the squad camera videos. Luedtke, 362 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 58. Roth received a fair trial during which he aggressively challenged the State's case and the State's witnesses on cross-examination.

The record establishes that the Oconomowoc Police Department's written policy at the time required a pre-shift inspection of body and squad camera equipment. (R. at 44:20-21.) However, Roth has made no showing that the failure to follow this policy was anything more than possible negligence.

Page 19 of 21

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